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PREFACE

The excavations at Bearsden lasted from 1973 to 1982 with the
post-excavation work continuing thereafter until 1992; there
was then a hiatus which largely coincided with my period as
Chief Inspector of Ancient Monuments and while the specialist
reports were being prepared. All work was undertaken as part
of my official duties as an inspector of ancient monuments and
funded by Historic Scotland and its predecessor departments.
During the years from 1973 the structure of archaeology
changed considerably, with most excavations now undertaken

by archaeologists employed full-time as excavators. The work at
Bearsden had to be fitted round other duties and the pressure
of those undoubtedly delayed the publication of this final
report, though interim and advance reports and discussions had
appeared elsewhere (eg Breeze 1974a; Breeze 1977a; Dickson, ] H
1979b; Dickson et al 1979; Breeze 1982; Breeze 1983; Knights
et al 1983; Breeze 1984a; Keppie & Arnold 1984; Breeze 1986;
Collins 1986; Dickson, C & Dickson, ] H 1988; Dickson, C 1989;
Dickson, C 1991).

lllustration i
The bath-house at the end of the 1973 being prepared for an influx of visitors.
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Hlustration ii
The opening of the bath-house in 1982.

Many of the above references relate to the detailed work and
subsequent publications by Camilla Dickson and her husband
Jim Dickson on the botanical remains discovered at Bearsden.
This has been amongst the most important aspect of all the post-
excavation analysis and even led to a series of letters in The Times
on feeding Roman troops (20, 27 and 29 June 1983). There were
special exhibitions of the objects from the excavations at the
Hunterian Museum, University of Glasgow, and the Lillie Art
Gallery, Milngavie, in 1977.

This long delay has also allowed for discussion and
reassessment of the structural evidence, not least by Geoft Bailey
(Bailey 1994 and forthcoming), and of the artefactual material.
Of particular importance has been the work on the pottery. Atan
early stage Louise Hird appreciated that the pottery did not form
a normal Antonine Wall assemblage. The unusual forms, which
appeared to me to be early second century, suggested to her local
production, and this was confirmed by Geoft Collins; this in turn
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led to detailed chemical and petrological analysis of the local
oxydised wares (Breeze 1986: 186; Collins 1986; Gillings 1991).
This important observation attracted the attention of Vivien
Swan and led her to undertake a wide-ranging survey of the
pottery from the Antonine Wall with important ramifications
(Swan 1999). Vivien died before she could complete her report on
the pottery from Bearsden but this was subsequently undertaken
by Paul Bidwell and Alex Croom. The significance of the local
manufacture is reflected in their report and that on the mortaria
by Katharine Hartley. The fact that there was only one period
of occupation at Bearsden was also amongst the new material
that led Nick Hodgson to review the evidence for two periods
of occupation on the Antonine Wall (Hodgson 1995: 31). The
undertaking of an excavation project on a seasonal basis retains
certain advantages in that time is allowed for consideration
between each season. yet the problem with this project was that
it was never certain that a further season would be possible, so
each year had to be planned as if it was the last. Nevertheless,
work was carried out within a strategic framework prepared
before the excavation began. This determined that the main aims
of the excavation would be to discover the state of any remains,
obtain a complete plan of the fort in all periods of occupation,
determine the history of the site and investigate the possibility of
the existence of an annexe or a civil settlement (internal memo
dated 21 March 1972 on AMG/A40/2/1, lodged in the SRO).
When it became clear that the botanical material survived so
well, tracing the vegetational history of the site was added to the
list. It is fair to state that these aims were largely achieved.

The extension of a single four-week trial excavation into
a ten-year excavation project resulted in the production of
annual plans. The continuing emendation of the plan as a result
of new information becoming available is a salutary lesson in
trying to interpret too much from limited information: Britannia
5(1974) - 10 (1979).

The excavation, in particular at its beginning and end,
provoked much public interest. At the end of the first season, a
television report on the discoveries led to an enormous influx
of visitors. The erection of a fence prevented visitors from
inadvertently falling into the excavation, and, together with
a nightwatchman, helped to protect the visible remains from
unwanted attention (illus i). The public interest was focused on
the bath-house, which was presented by the then owners, Miller
Homes, to the state. This was protected by a timber cover and
reopened in 1979 for the visit of the Congress of Roman Frontier
Studies and then consolidation. The bath-house was opened to
the public by Allan Stewart, MP, Minister for Home Affairs and
the Environment in the Scottish Office on 17 May 1982 (illus
ii), the first such event in Scotland and soon repeated as new
monuments were acquired and new displays created (Breeze
1984a: 64-7).

The artefactual material from the excavation has been
allocated to the Hunterian Museum, University of Glasgow,
while the archive lies in Historic Environment Scotland,
Edinburgh.
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ABSTRACT

The Roman fort at Bearsden (NS 545 721) was occupied within
the period 142 to 165. It was placed within a landscape already
at least partly cleared of woodland and supporting a diversity of
pasture, heath, bog and aquatic vegetation. The original plan for a
fort (Bearsden 1), covering 1.72ha and laid out to a grid measuring
5x 4 actus, was amended after work on the headquarters building,
a granary and bath-house, being divided into a fort (Bearsden
2) and an annexe roughly on a ratio of 2:1. The headquarters
building and granary were retained, resulting in an eccentric
plan for the fort; the bath-house was demolished and rebuilt.
The granaries were of stone, other buildings of timber including,
uniquely on the Antonine Wall, the headquarters, which, again
uniquely, appears to have included a forehall. Its construction,
and the plan of the barrack-blocks, suggests that cavalry were
based at both Bearsden 1 and 2. There were an irregular number
of ditches; the turf rampart appears to have been surmounted by
a timber breastwork.

The annexe contained a bath-house and a latrine. Analysis
of the sewage revealed that the soldiers ate both emmer and spelt
wheat, barley, pulses, local fruit and nuts, figs, coriander, celery
and dill, and opium poppy; they had a mainly plant-based diet;
they suffered from worms; they appear to have used moss to clean
themselves.

Supplies such as food and pottery came from southern
Britain, Gaul and Spain. Much pottery was made locally.

Occupation ended with the buildings demolished and burnt,
the rampart partially slighted and its timber breastwork burnt.

The bath-house and latrine were placed in state care in 1982.

ZUSAMMENFASSUNG

Das mische Kastell von Bearsden (NS 545 721) war in der
Zeit von 142 bis 165 belegt. Es wurde in einem zumindest schon
teilweise gerodeten Naturraum angelegt, der auch Weiden,
Heide, Sumpf und teilweise unter Wasser stehende Vegetation
aufwies. Der ursprngliche Kastellplan (Bearsden 1), der sich auf
1.72ha erstreckte und ein Raster von 5 x 4 actus aufwies, wurde
nach Umbauten am Kommandogebdude, dem Speicher und dem
Bad geteilt, wodurch das Kastell (Bearsden 2) und ein Annex
im Verhltnis 2:1 entstanden. Das Kommandogebude und der
Speicher wurden beibehalten, woraus sich ein ungewhnlicher
Kastellplan ergab; das Badegebude wurde geschliffen und neu
gebaut. Einmalig am Antoninuswall war, dass die Speicherbauten

in Stein, andere Bauten, wie auch das Kommandogebéude, das
ebenfalls einzigartig am Antoninuswall eine Vorhalle aufwies,
in Holz ausgefiihrt waren. Diese Konstruktionsmerkmale und
der Grundriss der Kasernenblocke lassen vermuten, dass in
Bearsden 1 und Bearsden 2 Kavallerie stationiert war. Es gab
eine uneinheitliche Anzahl von Grében; der Rasensodenwall
scheint von einer hdlzernen Brustwehr bekrént gewesen zu sein.
Der Annex wies ein Badegebdude und eine Latrine auf. Analysen
der Abwisser erbrachten den Nachweis, dass die Soldaten
sowohl Emmer als auch Spaltweizen, Gerste, Hilsenfriichte,
einheimische Friichte, Feigen, Koriander, Sellerie und Dill,
und Schlafmohn aflen; sie erndhrten sich hauptsachlich von
pflanzlicher Nahrung, litten an Wurmbefall; um sich selbst zu
reinigen scheinen sie Moos verwendet zu haben.

Nachschub an Lebensmitteln und Keramikgefafie kam vom
Stiden Britanniens, von Gallien und Spanien. Viel Keramik
wurde aber auch lokal hergestellt.Die Besiedlungsgeschichte
endet mit dem Brand und Abriss der Bauten, einem teilweise
geschliffenen Wall und der niedergebrannten holzernen Palisade.
Das Badegebdude und die Latrine wurden 1982 in staatliche
Obhut tibergeben.

RESUME

La forteresse Romaine de Bearsden était occupée pendant
I’époque 142 a 165. Elle était localisée dans un paysage qui
a été déja au moins partiellement débarrassé de bois, et qui
souteéne diversité de pasturage, bruyere, marécage et vegetation
aquatique. Le plan primitif de la forteresse (Bearsden 1), qui
occupe 1.72ha, et qui a été disposé sur une grille mesurant 5 x
4 actus, a été modifié aprés le commencement de construction
du quartier général, du grenier et de la maison de bains; par la
suite elle était se divisée en une forteresse (Bearsden 2) et une
annexe, en rapport de 2:1. Le quartier général et le grenier etaient
tous les deux conservées, et en consequence la forteresse avait un
plan irréguliére; la maison de bains était démolit et reconstruit.
Le grenier était construit de pierre, mais des autres batiments de
bois; uniquement sur le mur Antonin, le quartier général était de
bois, et aussi uniquement il semble qu’il en avait eu une avant-
salle. Sa construction de bois at le plan des casernes suggérent
que Bearsdenl et aussi Bearsden 2 étaient tous les deux pour la
cavalerie. Il y’avait un nombre irrégulier de fosses autour de la
forteresse; il semble que le rampart tourbeaux était surmonté
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par un parapet de bois.Lannexe a contenu une maison de bains
at une latrine. Lanalyse d’égouts a démontré que les soldats
ont mangé et emmer et spelt blé, orge, légumineuses, fruits et
noix locals, coriander, celery, et aneth, et pavot d’opium. Ils ont
mangé un régime principalement herbivore. Ils étaient aftligés
de vers intestinals. Il semble qu’ils nettoyent eux-mémes avec
mousse.Lapprovisionnements de nourriture et poterie, par

example, était envoyé par le sud Bretagne, Gaul et Espagne. Mais
beaucoup de poterie était fabriqué en localité.

Loccupation de la forteresse était terminé lorsque les
batiments étaient détruits et briilés. Le rampart était partiellement
démolit, et son parapet brtilé.

La maison de bains et la latrine ont mises en charge de I’état
en 1982.



SUM MARY

Rescue and research excavations from 1973 to 1982, funded by
Historic Scotland and its predecessor departments, on and around
the site of the Roman fort at Bearsden on the Antonine Wall (NS
545 721) revealed evidence for the vegetation history of the area,
elucidated the plan of the fort and annexe, and the history and
occupation of both, and provided important information on the
diet of the soldiers (illus iii).

Pollen analysis suggests that when the army arrived the
vegetation in the area was mainly of established pasture with
some partly cleared woodland. Trees were mainly of alder and
hazel with some willow while grasses, heather and rushes grew
in cleared areas. The climate may have been a little cooler than
today.

The fort, built on uneven ground, was planned to be an
enclosure (Bearsden 1) measuring 152m east-west x 113m
north-south across the ramparts thereby covering 1.72ha,
and 143m x 104m within the ramparts, 1.48ha. During
building work this large enclosure was divided into a western
fort (Bearsden 2), 102m east-west over the ramparts, 93m
within (1.15ha/0.95ha), and an annexe 54m east-west over the
ramparts, 45m within (0.61ha/0.47ha). Bearsden 1 was laid
out within the framework of a grid measuring 5 x 4 actus. Five
buildings in Bearsden 2 were about one actus long while the
distance across the width of one pair of buildings was half an
actus, and across another pair only a little less. This suggests that
the soldiers who built the first fort also planned and possibly built
the second, which in turn suggests that one activity followed
closely on the other. The changes at Bearsden may have had wider
implications for military deployment on the Antonine Wall;
perhaps it was at this point, rather than when the secondary forts
were added to the Wall, that some units were moved.

The fort and annexe were attached to the rear of the Antonine
Wall, the north defences of both being the Wall itself. The Military
Way passed through the centre of the fort; the line is now occupied
by Roman Road. There were three ditches to the west of the fort,
one wide ditch to the south and two to the east of the annexe:
there were no ditches between fort and annexe. No ditch showed
any evidence for recutting.

The stone rampart base surrounding Bearsden 1 was 4.5m
(15% Roman feet) wide with the overlying turves averaging
400mm x 320mm (the regulation size was 430mm x 300mm). The
rampart between the fort and annexe was 4.35m wide. To its east
burnt debris about 1.5m wide and containing thin branches of

willow, alder and hazel is best interpreted as the remains of the
rampart’s timber breast-work.

The buildings started or completed in Bearsden 1 included the
headquarters, a granary, the bath-house and latrine. The first two
buildings were retained in Bearsden 2, creating an eccentric plan
for the fort, but the bath-house was demolished and rebuilt on a
different alignment. Identified buildings of Bearsden 2 include
partof the headquarters building together with a possible forehall;
two barrack-blocks, each apparently containing officer’s quarters
and eight rooms; two stone granaries; a possible storehouse, and
three long-narrow buildings; there were also open areas, some
owing to the steep slope in the north half of the fort; other areas
contained depressions, perhaps for the collection of water, and
small pits. Most of the buildings were of timber with wattle and
daub walls and probably thatched roofs. The exceptions were the
granaries which were stone, one at least probably with a tile roof.
A forehall suggests the presence of cavalry in Bearsden 1, while
barrack-blocks with eight rooms also implies cavalry. The small
size of the fort and the apparent lack of accommodation for a
complete unit suggests that Bearsden was linked to another fort,
possibly Castlehill, 2.5km to the west, which appears to have been
too small to hold all of the Fourth Cohort of Gauls attested there.

The annexe contained a bath-house and a latrine. An earlier
heated room, presumably part of a bath-house, was abandoned
before completion and replaced by a new building on a different
alignment. The new bath-house contained a timber changing
room and cold room, a stone heated range (two warm rooms, a
hot room and a hot bath) and a cold bath, with a hot dry room
apparently added later. The latrine was built against the inside face
of the east annexe rampart. The sewage de-bouched into the east
annexe ditches. The contents of the outer ditch included fragments
of moss which may have been used for cleaning purposes.

Analysis of the sewage indicated that the soldiers had a mainly
plant-based diet. Different species of wheat were found: emmer
may have been used for porridge and spelt for bread while durum
may have been used to make pasta and/or porridge. Barley may
have been used for thickening broth. Figs and the spices coriander,
celery and dill, with the oily seeds of linseed and opium poppy
together with pulses were consumed, as were local fruit and nuts.
The soldiers suffered from worms.

The soldiers were supplied with food and pottery from
southern Britain and from Gaul and Spain. Considerable
quantities of pottery were made in the area of Bearsden. These
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include the wares of Sarrius, a potter established in the English
Midlands, who appears to have established a workshop in the
area, almost certainly at Bearsden.

Occupation outside the fort was sought to west, east and
south, but with little success. Two short cobble foundations were
found to the west of the fort, one containing a pivot-hole at one
end. Only a gulley was located to the east of the annexe.

Hints at minor modifications in the fort were recorded; as
many as three amendments occurred in the second bath-house,
excluding its predecessor. Pottery reveals that the fort was

xxxii

occupied in the Antonine period, that is from 142/3 to no later
than 170. Burnt debris demonstrates that the fort was destroyed,
probably by the Roman army itself. By this time the outer east
annexe ditch appeared to have silted to about half its original
depth with sewage from the latrine. Two almost unworn coins
dating to 153-5 suggest that the fort was abandoned soon after
that date.

The bath-house and latrine were placed into state care in 1982
having been consolidated, landscaped and laid open for public
viewing (Breeze 1984: 64-7).



Chapter 1
THE STRUCTURE OF THE REPORT

This report starts with a note of earlier accounts of the site.
The structural remains discovered during the excavations are
then described, followed by the specialist reports in the order
recommended by Grinsell et al (1966), finally interpretation
and discussion. Each section of the report takes the same form:
description of the material (features or structures and artefacts
or other material) followed by commentary. Normally buildings
are not identified until they have been described (‘building’ is the
term used not only to describe such a structure but also a clutch
of post-holes which may have been a building); the exceptions are
the bath-house and latrine as their functions are clear. As thisis a
single-period site, artefacts are not discussed or listed for dating
purposes in relation to the individual features or structures,
though they may be referred to if relevant to the deposit.

Plans (illus 1.2 and 3.0.1) illustrate the relationship between
the excavated areas and the buildings existing during the
excavation and provide the key to the more detailed plans which
accompany each section. On the detailed plans the unexcavated
areas are marked by tone.
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The Antonine Wall.
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Illustration 1.2
Key to excavated areas, detailed plans and section in the report.

References to illustrations and tables in the text are by the number of the object, 5.2.1.1. In the description of
prefixed by illus and table; to sections of the report by  the excavation relevant finds are noted at the end of each
number, for example, 7.8, and to artefacts by section followed  section.



Chapter 2
PREVIOUS ACCOUNTS

The existence of a fort on the Antonine Wall at Bearsden was
recorded by Christopher Irvine, Historiographer Royal for
Scotland, in the late 17th century (Keppie 2012: 42-3). Irvine’s
papers were acquired by Sir Robert Sibbald who published
Irvine’s list, which included: ‘From thence [Castlehill] over the
Mossfaldhill of Led Carmmock, by the New Kirk of Kilpatrick
a Mile, at the Hay Hill a Fort’ (Sibbald 1707: 28). Irvine’s
observation was followed by those of Gordon (1726), Horsley
(1732), Maitland (1757) and Roy (1793). Roy, as usual, provided
the best plan (illus 2.1) and noted for the first time that the fort
was surrounded by two ditches: ‘a double
envelope’ (Roy 1793: 159). Moreover, the
measurements scaled off Roy’s plan closely
approximate to the size of the complex
as determined in the excavations: Roy’s
475%x 360 feet compared to 476 x 380 feet
(illus 3.2.1). All these commentators failed
to record the rampart between the fort and
the annexe. The reason is no doubt recorded
by Roy, who remarked that the fort was ‘so
much defaced by the plough, that excepting
on the south side, it is with much difficulty
that it [the double envelope] can be traced’
(Roy 1793: 159). The antiquarians noted the
Military Way running through the centre
of the fort, Gordon (1726: 53) stating that
perhaps here the ‘Causeway is not to be
seen in greater perfection, measuring 20
feet in Breadth’. Horsley (1732: 166) also
commented on the military way ‘being ...
conspicuous and magnificent’, and that ‘the
gates at which the military way enters then
goes out, are nearly in the middle of the east
and west ramparts’.

Roy (1793: 158-9) also recorded the
topographical setting of the fort: ‘the fort
of New Kirkpatrick, stands lower than most
we meet with on the Wall, having the rivulet
which afterwards falls into the Allender
in front. And as the rising grounds, on
the right and left of this post, form a sort
of gorge or pass, through which it seems
to have been apprehended that the enemy

BT

might penetrate from the north and north-west, therefore the
fort hath not only been made to larger dimensions, but likewise
to render it more respectable, it hath been surrounded with a
double envelope ... The military way passes through it, and it
is distant from Castle-hill only two thousand four hundred and
fifty yards’ (illus 2.2).

Stuart’s plan retained the two ditches, but he recorded
robbing of stones from the fort: ‘Many hundred cart-loads of
stones have been removed at different times from the line of the
Military Way, and also from the foundations of the Station, and

Illustration 2.1
Roy’s plan of Bearsden, 1755.
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Illustration 2.2
Roy’s map of the Bearsden area, 1755.

many hundreds more remain to be dug out whenever they may be
required’ (Stuart 1852: 313). In 1825 Reverend John Skinner had
noted ‘large squared stones. .. some of them chiselled in lines after
the Roman manner’ re-used in a building near the fort (Keppie
2003: 225). Stuart recorded the existence of a spring ‘within
the ramparts at East Kilpatrick, the water from which has been
recently led into a drain, and now makes its crystal appearance
towards the bottom of the field, at a considerable distance from
its former outlet. When first discovered a few remains of masonry
existed near it - confirming in some degree the opinion, that this
tiny fountain had been a source of supply to the ancient garrison’
(Stuart 1852: 313). In addition, Stuart stated that ‘some fragments
of Roman pottery have also been found at East Kilpatrick, which
much resembled those discovered at Duntocher; they likewise
contain the figures of centaurs, and what might also be called
a copy of the Medicean Venus - all in low relief’, presumably
samian ware (Stuart 1852: 315).

The fort was still visible and free of encumbrances when
the Ordnance Survey recorded it in 1862 (illus 2.3), though
by this time the only trace of the defences was a broad hollow
marking the line of the ditches south of Roman Road; north of
the road two fence lines maintained the line of the west and east
ramparts (Feachem 1974: 74-5). By the time the second edition

was published in 1896 two villas had been erected in the northern
part of the fort (illus 2.4), while south of the road lay a further
two; the only part of the fort not built over was the south-west
corner, though the ditch to the south-west and south was still
marked as visible. By the 1914 OS map, the fort was recorded as
‘Roman Station (site of)’, with no remains visible (Feachem 1974:
75; Macdonald 1934: 324-6).

Since that day little has been recorded of the fort and few
finds have come to light. Macdonald (1934: 325) recorded events
during the building of the villas on the site: the corner of one villa
had been erected over ‘a soft mass of black material” and required
strengthening; the south rampart was grubbed up during the
laying out of gardens; and also during gardening was discovered
‘a number of pits from 30 to 36 inches in diameter and similar in
depth. In the bottom there was usually or always some ashed or
charred wood’. Fragments of amphora and a coin of Trajan were
found in October 1912 in the garden of Maxholme, an intaglio
cut in cornelian and the device of a female figure making an
offering of fruit found in 1933 (Macdonald 1934: 326) and a coin
of Constantine I in the grounds of 16 Roman Road (Robertson
1950: 139-40) complete the catalogue. Macdonald concluded his
report with the ill-judged prophesy that ‘it is unlikely that we
shall ever learn more’ (Macdonald 1911: 165; 1934: 326).
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Illustration 2.3
The OS first edition map of Bearsden, 1862.

Illustration 2.4
The OS 1896 map of Bearsden.
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llustration 2.5
The grounds of 35 Roman Road before excavation looking east.

Today, the site of the fort can still be recognised, particularly
on Roman Road. A slight dip in the road marks the western
ditches of the fort, while the ground falls away to the east of
the annexe. To both north and south of the fort and annexe the
grounds drops steeply away, to the north into the valley of the
Manse Burn.

The modern name assigned to the fort has varied. Irvine
called it Hay Hill (Sibbald 1707: 28). The parish of East
Kilpatrick was created in 1649 and a church erected soon after

which was known to Roy as New Kirkpatrick, but by 1860
had become New Kilpatrick; the names were in contrast to
the parish and church at Old Kilpatrick at the west end of
the Wall. However, when a railway station was opened in
1863, it was given the name Bearsden after a small farmhouse
(Feacham 1974: 74-5). With the popularity accorded to the
excavations reported upon in this volume, this name was
accorded the fort rather than the more cumbersome and otiose
‘New Kilpatrick’.



Chapter 3
THE EXCAVATIONS

In 1971 the Ancient Monuments Branch of the Department
of the Environment (now Historic Scotland) learned of
proposals to redevelop the grounds of 31-37 Roman Road,
Bearsden. Permission was sought from the owners, Miller
Homes (Northern) Ltd, for a trial excavation and readily given.
Excavations took place for an initial four weeks in the summer
of 1973 and the results proved to be so promising that the
work was extended for a further three weeks. In view of the
delay in commencing building work on the site, Miller Homes
generously granted permission for further excavations to take
place each summer until 1979 when they disposed of the site to
Woodblane Developments (Scotland) Ltd who kindly agreed
to the continuation of excavation for a further season (illus
3.0.1). The excavations north of Roman Road in advance of
redevelopment exhausted all the available area in that part of
the site. It was considered that it would be useful to examine part
of the south half of the site in order to be able to establish further
and wider conclusions concerning the history and layout of the
fort. Accordingly Bearsden and Milngavie District Council
were approached for permission to excavate in the grounds of
their property, Maxholme, 14 Roman Road. Permission was
immediately granted and excavations took place there in 1977-9
at the same time as rescue work was proceeding on the north
side of Roman Road. The bath-house, discovered in 1973, was
generously excluded from the proposed development by Miller
Homes, and donated to the state by Woodblane Developments
Ltd. Further excavation took place in 1979-82 on the bath-
house and the adjacent latrine in advance of consolidation. As a
result, excavations were conducted for a total of a little over 26
weeks.

A total of 5,000m? (0.5 ha = 1.25 acres) of the fort, the annexe
and areas outside the defences were subjected to archaeological
investigation over the ten seasons, 1973-82 (illus 3.0.1). The area
of the fort and annexe as measured over the rampart is 16,000m?,
and over the ditches 17,680m?, so the area excavated represents
the equivalent of rather less than one-third of the military
enclosure. The main areas unexamined were the south-western
part of the fort and the southern half of the annexe. Subsequently,
evaluations and rescue excavations took place in the latter area;
the work usefully provided an additional line for the rampart
between the fort and the annexe but otherwise reported only
insubstantial remains (Duncan & Leslie 2003; Will & Sneddon
2010; Becket 2012).

Certain constraints restricted activity. All the trees on the
site were protected by Tree Preservation Orders. This not only
prevented the investigation of certain areas where problems
might have been answered, but restricted mobility on site; the use
of machinery in some areas was not possible (illus 3.0.2). Further,
all areas had to be backfilled at the end of each season. The clay
subsoil at times hampered work, in particular investigation of the
ditches, as water was slow to drain and the clay quick to harden
in the sun. A final difficulty, of rather a different nature, arose
through the terracing of the house gardens in the Victorian
period. It gradually became clear that agricultural activity on the
site had denuded the higher parts of the site, towards the north as
recorded by Roy (1793: 159) and caused a build-up of soil in the
lower areas, mainly immediately to the north side of Roman Road
(illus i). Victorian builders had then created terraces using red
clay in front of the houses. This was not at first apparent, not least
because the red clay used was so similar to the natural subsoil of
the site, and it took some time to determine in each garden where
the obscured Roman levels lay in relationship to the 19th century
terraces. While the clay dump hampered progress in this way,
and also because its weight had led to the squeezing of the old
ground surface over the tops of post-holes, it had a considerable
beneficial effect elsewhere for buried beneath, and, thus protected
by the terrace in front of 35 Roman Road, lay the bath-house still
surviving up to ten courses high.

Beneath the Victorian terracing, and generally over the site,
earlier truncation of the Roman layers, presumably through
ploughing, was such that floor levels rarely survived. Some road
surfaces remained, but no floors within buildings, with the
exception of one small fragment in one room in building 7 and
the courtyard in building 11. Stratified features were therefore
few. They included the drains and gulleys within the fort, some
pits and post-holes, and some floors in the bath-house and latrine.
Most of the stratified pottery was found in the levels relating to
the abandonment of the fort and is not noticeably different from
the unstratified material. In view of the short life of the fort no
attempt has been made to date the phases as the pottery will
not allow such precision. The pottery from Bearsden by weight
(excluding amphorae) formed about a fifth of all the pottery from
the Antonine Wall forts, excluding Camelon (Swan 1999: 451-
62).

The area of the bath-house was offered to the state in 1973
as a public monument. As a result, its excavation was not
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THE EXCAVATIONS

completed that year. The building was protected by a wooden
superstructure. By 1979, after the site had changed hands,
agreement had been reached about the way ahead and as
building work started on the housing development, the cover
was removed and the full excavation of the bath-house and
the surrounding area commenced (illus 3.0.3). The excavation
continued not only as the bath-house was being consolidated but
as the houses were being constructed round the area of the bath-
house and latrine, causing a different form of constriction on
archaeological activity, and the inadvertent destruction of part
of the latrine by the builders.

3.1 TOPOGRAPHY AND GEOLOGY OF THE SITE

The Antonine Wall, which here formed the north rampart of the
fort and annexe, was built along a ridge which ran east to west,
falling to the east from the high point of the fort (illus 3.1.1). From
this high point the land dropped steeply to the south to a fairly
level plateau on which the south half of the fort sat: there was a
slight rise towards the south-east quarter of the fort where the
headquarters building was to be placed. A depression, apparently
natural, south of building 7 appeared to be part of a broad natural lllustration 3.0.2

gulley running east-west a little to the north of the modern road Excavating the north granary.

Illustration 3.0.3
The final stages of the excavation of the bath-house were undertaken in 1982 while the building was being consolidated (right) and the flats
were being built out of sight to the left and below with the builders’ encampment top right.
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lustration 3.1.1
Map of the contours and drains.

and draining to the east; the contours hint at this. Thus the ground
within the fort varied in height by as much as 6m.

The land within the annexe generally also sloped from north
to south and from west to east. The ground continued to fall to
the east of the annexe and more steeply south of the fort. It also
fell steeply to the north into the valley of the Manse Burn.

The subsoil was boulder clay, generally red in colour. In
one area (under the west rampart) a brown earth soil survived
overlying the boulder clay (4.1).

3.2 THE FORT

The enclosure which contained the fort and the annexe measured
152m east-west by an estimated 113m north-south over the
ramparts (neither north nor south rampart was located) and
covered 1.72ha (illus 3.2.1). Within the ramparts, the measure-
ments were 143m by an estimated 104m, 1.48ha. As it gradually
became clear during the excavations, this large enclosure
was divided into two on a ratio of about 2:1 while the internal
buildings were being erected. The western area remained the fort,
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102m east-west over the ramparts, 93m within (1.15ha/0.95ha),
while the eastern part became an annexe measuring 54m east—
west over the ramparts, 45m within (0.61/0.47ha).

3.2.1 The defences

There were two elements to the defences, the ditches and, inside
them, the rampart. The ditches surrounded the whole enclosure,
the northern also serving as the ditch of the Antonine Wall. A
separate rampart separated the fort from the annex.

3.2.2 The ditches

The ditches were sectioned on every side, often in difficult
circumstances owing to the depth of overburden and the general
restrictions of the site. Similar difficulties sometimes resulted in
the sections remaining uncompleted.

The north ditch was traced across the site from north of the
annexe east ditches to beyond the west fort ditches. Two sections
were machine cut in 1973, a third hand dug in 1974, while
smaller trenches to trace the ditch further west were machine
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Illustration 3.2.2
The north ditch section looking west.

cut in 1975. In these two western trenches the north lip of the
ditch was not located: here the ditch passed so close to the steep
south bank of the Manse Burn that part of the ditch had been
eroded.

In 1974 a small area was opened in order to try to locate a
causeway outside the putative position of the north gate (section
E-E on illus 1.2). The ditch here was found to be at least 6.5m

Illustration 3.2.3
The outer west ditch looking south.

12

wide (illus 3.2.2 and 3.2.7). Opposite the east rampart of the fort
it had widened to 7.2m (section F-F), and north of the east annexe
ditches to 8.3m (illus 3.2.7). The profile revealed an irregular
slope of about 45° on the south, with a rather steeper slope to
the north; the ditch was a little over 2.5m deep. At the bottom
of section E-E lay a deposit of ‘organic’ material (illus 3.2.2 and
3.2.7). Elsewhere this overlay a deposit of fine grey silt. It seems
possible that the position was the same in this trench, but here the
silt was not recognised owing to the difficulty of distinguishing
it from the natural clay into which the ditch had been excavated
and from which it had come. The u -shaped profile may therefore
be false: it is possible that the profile should be V-shaped, as in
section D-D. Over the ‘organic’ deposit lay silt of varying colours
and consistencies, generally coarser than the fine silt usually
accumulated in the bottom of the ditches. The silt merged into
brown loam, and over this lay Victorian infill.

lllustration 3.2.4
The outer annexe ditch looking south.

Section F-F was not ‘bottomed’ owing to problems with
water. However, the upper silts and superimposed levels were
located. The ditch here had been dug a little to the south of the
valley of the Manse Burn with the result that a narrow ridge or
glacis had been left between the ditch and the valley, and still
survived in spite of later erosion.

Three ditches were located on the west side, and sectioned at
three points, though the bottom was not always reached (sections
A-A, B-B, C-C on illus 1.2). All three ditches varied in width,
profile and depth, both from each other and along their own
length (illus 3.2.3, 3.2.5 and 3.2.8). However, the outer lip of each
ditch was almost parallel to the west rampart of the fort, which
may suggest the location of the marking out line. The outer ditch
widened from 2.8m just south of the butt-end to 3.7m and then
4.7m a little to the north of the putative causeway outside the
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llustration 3.2.6
The south ditch section looking east.

west gate of the fort. The middle ditch, 3.5-4m to the east and the
most regular, widened from 5.3m to 5.5m before narrowing to
5m. The inner ditch was even more irregular. Placed 2.8m to the
west of the middle ditch for the northern 30m, it was only about
2.8m wide, but it then broadened to 4.4m at the expense of the
spine between these two ditches.

The outer ditch was the same depth, 2.2m, in both sections
across it, though narrowing to the north and therefore gaining
steeper sides: the outer slope was longer than the inner (illus
3.2.3). The middle ditch was also 2.2m deep in section C-C, but
only 1.4m in section A-A, presumably because it was approaching
the butt-end. The inner ditch was 1.55m deep in both sections
A-A and C-C but again was steeper to the north owing to the
narrower dimensions.

The fill of the three ditches varied somewhat along their
length. In the section just north of the putative causeway
outside the west gate the fine silt at the bottom of each ditch,
400mm-750mm deep, was covered by the ‘organic’ deposit,
800mm-1m thick, and this in turn was below a grey-brown
silt, coarser than the lower level of silt, and merging into the
layer of brown loam which uniformly covered the ditches and
the spines between them. In Section B-B only the outer ditch
was ‘bottomed’. Here the fine silt was 750mm thick, the same
depth as further south, but the ‘organic’ layer was reduced to
150mm, while the upper coarse silt had thickened to Im. In
section A-A no ‘organic’ debris was found, the silts merging into
each other, though in both the inner and middle ditches there
was less silt, while the brown loam above was more stony than
further south.

In section C-C, a little north of the presumed causeway
leading out of the west gate of the fort, a quantity of metal objects
was recovered from the lower fine silt about 300mm from the
bottom of the middle ditch (11.3.1.1-6; 15-61; 11.3.2.97; 102;
105-8; 11.3.3; 115; 122-31; 11.3.4.158); a quern was found in the
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outer west ditch (5.2.2.3). These objects were all found at the same
level and appeared to have entered the ditch at the same time
(13.4; 13.5 and 13.6 for analysis of the contents of these three
ditches).

The north butt-ends of the east ditches of the annexe were
located, but were not emptied: both ditches were 3m wide at
this point. 8m to the south a complete section across the outer
ditch was excavated (Section D-D on illus 1.2). 3.5m wide, the
ditch sides sloped steeply to a depth of 2.4m (illus 3.2.4 and
3.2.7). The bottom 1.3m of the ditch contained dark grey silt,
and above this was a shallow ‘organic’ deposit, 280mm thick.
Above this lay further, coarser silts. Analysis of the 1.3m of
fine silt in the bottom of the ditch demonstrated that this
contained food debris, and had clearly accumulated during the
life of the fort (13.2, 17.2 and 18 for analyses of the contents of
this ditch).

The south ditch was sectioned at one point, opposite the
putative position of the south gate of the fort (section G-G). It
was 9.7m wide, measured to a break in slope, but thereafter it
continued to slope up, more gradually, to the presumed position
of the south rampart (illus 3.2.6 and 3.2.7). Measured from the
south lip, the ditch was 2.7m deep, and from the north 3.3m.
The fill was similar to other ditches, with a fine grey silt at the
bottom, ‘organic’ layer above, coarser silt, of various hues of grey,
blending into brown loam (see 13.7 for analysis of the contents
of this ditch). This ditch was considerably deeper than any other
ditch and in width approximately equal to any two of the west
and east ditches.

No evidence was found in any ditch to suggest that it had
ever been cleaned out during its life; though conversely none was
found to suggest that it had not. The metalwork in the middle west
ditch, most likely deposited there when the fort was abandoned,
lay within the fine lower silt, with no break noticeable in the
silting pattern above.
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Illustration 3.2.7
Sections of the north, east and south ditches.
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Illustration 3.2.8
Sections of the west ditches.
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Comment

The variety and nature of the ditches require consideration,
but this is undertaken in the general discussion section. The
report on the geophysical survey along the south ditch is in
Section 3.5.

3.2.3 The rampart

Complete sections across the ramparts of the fort were made at
only three points, one to the west and two to the east, so general
comment must be limited in scope.

The north rampart was sought in three trenches but nowhere
survived. At one point, north of the north end of the east annexe
ditches, the subsoil was noticeably harder and more compacted
than the surrounding area. This strip, running east-west across
the trench, was about 4.3m wide while the north edge lay 9m
south of the south lip of the Antonine Wall ditch. This would be
the appropriate position for the rampart.

The south rampart was not located. Macdonald recorded
that it had been removed when the garden was laid out; a terrace
wall now sits on its site (Macdonald 1911: 163; 1934: 325). A 10m
length of the west rampart was traced northwards from Roman
Road, though a complete section, 1m wide, was determined at
only one point (illus 3.2.9). The rampart base was 4.5m wide, and
was formed of rough stones of varying sizes from 400mm long
downwards, though with an average size of 150mm x200mm,
bordered by roughly dressed kerbs of sandstone blocks, all set

Illustration 3.2.9
Plan of the west rampart of the fort, the surviving turves, and the intervallum.
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llustration 3.2.10
The west rampart of the fort (to the right), water tank and intervallum road
looking south.

Illustration 3.2.11
The turves of the west fort rampart.

into the natural red clay (illus 3.2.10). At one point a brown
forest earth soil survived below the rampart base (see 4.1 for
analysis of the soil and 13.8 for analysis of the turves). The base
was crossed by a drain, described below. Turfwork survived
on the stone base up to a maximum height of 300mm. Up to
three layers of turf, each 80mm-100m thick, were preserved. In
two areas the turfwork was sufliciently well preserved to allow
accurate measurement of the individual turves (illus 3.2.11).
At one point three turves, rectangular in shape, measured
400mm-450mm x 300mm-350mm. Elsewhere, the turves were
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Illustration 3.2.12

Plan of the rampart between the fort and the annexe, the intervallum and adjacent areas of the annexe.
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Illustration 3.2.13
The rampart base between the fort and the annexe south of Roman Road and
east of the headquarters building with its covering of turf looking south with
the path to its east.

more irregular in shape. They were laid in rows, the eastern
about 450mm wide, the second, less regular, varying from
250mm to 380mm. The smallest turf measured 250mm x 280mm
and the largest 450mm x840mm; the average was about
400mm X 320mm.

The east rampart was located at three points, but full
sections were only achieved at two (illus 3.2.12). To the south

lllustration 3.2.14
The rampart base between the fort and the annexe south of Roman Road
and east of the headquarters building looking south with the path to its east
following removal of the turf.

Illustration 3.2.15
The rampart base between the fort and annexe north of Roman Road with the
area of burning to the east, looking west.

of Roman Road it was 4.35m wide and, to the north, also 4.35m
but narrowing 3m further north to 4.2m. The rampart base
was constructed in the same manner as the west rampart, with
stones of similar size and shape. Only the barest skim of turf
survived (illus 3.2.13 and 3.2.14). North of Roman Road a layer
of burning covered a rough cobble surface to the east of the

lllustration 3.2.16
The cobbling under the burning north of Roman Road.
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llustration 3.2.17
Turf and wood of the fort/annexe rampart.

rampart. It was up to 120mm thick and about 1.5m wide (illus
3.2.15 and 3.2.16). Analysis of this material demonstrated that
it contained willow, alder and hazel branches, 10mm to 15mm
in diameter (13.8). A small amount of fallen turfwork overlay
the burning. At one point, immediately north of Roman Road, a
fragment of wood lay parallel to the rampart, but it was very soft
and proved impossible to lift (3.2.17).

A complete section across the east rampart of the annexe was
only achieved at one point, though a stretch of the inside face
of the rampart was uncovered over 19m. The complete section
was by the latrine. Here the rampart was 4.5m wide, the same
width as the west fort rampart, and built in the same manner as
elsewhere. The stones were embedded in the natural red clay and
over them turfwork survived to a height of 400mm (see 13.8 for
an analysis of the turves). 15m to the north, the eastern 2.7m of
the rampart base was examined in a small trench. Here no part of
the base was preserved, but a drain through the rampart survived
(illus 3.2.18); see below.

3.2.4 Internal roads

Intervallum road (via sagularis)

A metalled surface, the intervallum road, ran round the whole of
the fort within the rampart. It was not always possible to relate
this road to the rampart, usually because either the rampart or
the road had been destroyed. There was some evidence surviving,
however, to suggest that the road was separated from the rampart
by an open space.

Along the inside of the presumed position of the north
rampart the very denuded remains of the intervallum street at
least 2.7m wide survived. It can be calculated that its southern
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edge will have lain about 8m south of the rampart. On the south
side of the fort the intervallum road was 1.8m wide west of the
site of the via decumana, while to the east the road was separated
by at least 4m from the rampart. This space was occupied by two
small pits and two post-holes, possibly part of a building placed
in the shelter of the rampart.

On the west side of the fort (the praetentura) the intervallum
road was 3.2m wide north of building 4, widening opposite
this building to 7m (illus 3.2.19). A gap of 1.5m to 1.7m was
left between the road and the rampart. This was crossed by a
drain, north of which lay a few stones, while to the south lay a
water tank (illus 3.2.20). This measured 800mm north-south by
860mm east-west on the west side, narrowing to 720mm on the
east. The sides were formed of four slabs placed on edge, with
the two north-south slabs longer than the east-west stones. The
floor was of clay and the joints were luted with clay. There was no
visible entry to or exit from the tank. Two conjoining fragments

Illustration 3.2.18
The outfall of the drain through the east annexe rampart east of the primary
bath-house.
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lllustration 3.2.19
The west intervallum looking north with the water tank.

of the lower stone of a quern were recovered from the rampart
tumble in this area (5.2.2.4).

On the east side of the northern part of the fort the inter-
vallum road was about 2m wide, but was placed 3m from the
inside edge of the rampart, the intervening area containing three
pits and a small patch of cobbling (illus 3.2.21). A quern was
incorporated into the metalling to the east of building 7 (5.3.1).

On the east side of the southern part of the fort the scattered
remains of the intervallum road, 2.1m wide, ended 3.7m west of the
rampart. A small patch of burning, possibly from the destruction
of the fort, lay on the old ground surface, in the intervening space,

Illustration 3.2.20
The water tank looking west.

llustration 3.2.21
The east intervallum looking south (left) with the path between buildings 6
and 7.

while a post-hole was located immediately behind the rampart,
suggesting that a building may have lain here.

Several sections of the intervallum road were bounded by
gulleys. Those along the inside of the north and west intervallum
roads were associated with the internal buildings. However, the
gulley along the south intervallum lay on the rampart side, which
here was the downhill side of the road. There was no gulley along
the east intervallum road.

Illustration 3.2.22
The junction of the via praetoria (left) and the via principalis (right) looking east,
with the post-holes of the west wall of building 7 beyond.
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Illustration 3.2.23
The via decumana looking east.

Other roads

The main east-west road across the fort presumably lies under the
modern Roman Road. This, the via principalis, from the accounts
of the antiquarians, also formed part of the Military Way along
the Antonine Wall. Running north towards the north rampart,
and the putative position of the north gate, was the via praetoria
(illus 3.2.22). This was located in one area, between buildings 3

Illustration 3.2.24
The road south of building 12 looking south.
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and 7: further north the road did not survive. The road at this
point was at least 3.8m wide. It was bounded on the west side
by a drain, and was crossed by a second drain. Running south
from the centre of the fort was the via decumana, 9.2m wide at
its widest point east of building 14, but probably only about 7.8m
wide east of building 13 (illus 3.2.23). There was also a metalled
strip 6.3m wide to the south of building 12, which may have been
the via quintana (illus 3.2.24).

Minor roads, or paths, were noted between several buildings.
One left the intervallum road approximately at a right angle to
pass between buildings 6 and 7 (illus 3.2.21; 25). It was traced for
11m, and was up to 1.7m wide. Another lay along the south side
of building 7, and was also about 1.7m wide. A third lay between
buildings 3 and 4, and consisted of a lightly metalled path up to
2m wide.

Inside the west rampart of the annexe a metalled surface was
recorded both north and south of Roman Road (illus 3.2.14; 16).

Illustration 3.2.25
The path between buildings 6 and 7 looking south.
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It was formed of cobbles overlain with smaller stones and gravel
and defined along its west edge by rough kerbing, leaving a gap
of about 200-300mm between the cobbles and the base. To the
south the cobbled surface was 1.7m wide, but further north it
was more irregular. Here the metalling was crossed by a drain,
leading south-west from the bath-house to turn and apparently
run parallel to the east rampart of the fort, presumably emptying
into the gap between the rampart base and the cobbled path
though the point of junction did not survive.

Comment

There was little uniformity in the width of the roads. The
intervallum street, fully sectioned in five places, varied in width
from 1.8m to 3.2m, excluding the area opposite the north granary
(building 4), where it attained a width of 7m, presumably to aid
access to the building. The via praetoria was at least 3.8m wide,
but probably not much more, while the via decumana was over
twice as wide: the road behind building 12 lay between these two
extremes. The smaller paths between individual buildings were
all just short of 2m wide.

The strip of metalling south of building 12 was originally
interpreted as the via quintana because it was in the correct
location while to the west there appeared to be a gap between
buildings 11 and 15. The proposal that these two buildings formed
part of a single structure, the headquarters building, casts doubt
on this interpretation (for further discussion see Comment to
buildings 10, 11 and 15).

None of the roads or paths occupied the full space available
between buildings or between ramparts and buildings. The gap
between the intervallum road and the rampart varied between
1.5m and at least 4m, and may have been up to 5m wide along the
north rampart. Apart from several small pits of indeterminate
function, a water-tank and patches of cobbles, there is some
indication that buildings may have occupied this area. The gap
between the internal roads and buildings was no more than 2m,
and generally much less. In only one instance did the road surface
lap against the outside wall of a building, the north granary. No
ovens were found in the intervallum space.

The construction of the roads

The roads were all built in a similar fashion. A layer of water-
worn cobbles formed the bottoming and smaller stones lay on
top, reducing gradually to a gravel surface, though in places the
surface was formed of crushed sandstone fragments.

Frequently, the road surface had been destroyed. The average
thickness of the road was 300mm from base to surface. The road
to the west of building 4 (the granary) was especially thick; the
layer of cobbles, which included very large stones at the base,
was 400mm deep, and the smaller stones and gravel 140mm
thick. The more substantial nature of the road here indicates the
location of the loading bay of the granary.

The paths were constructed in a similar manner to the
roads, though they were of lighter build. The path south of the
western two-thirds of building 7 was formed of a single layer of
yellow sandstone fragments. The east end of the path was more
substantial, having a bottoming of cobbles.

3.2.5 Drains and gulleys

Water was carried off the fort in either an open gulley or a
drain (illus 3.1.1 and 3.2.27). The former were generally about
400-500mm wide and 100mm deep, and the drains 100-150mm
wide and the same in depth.

In the north half of the fort an open gulley was located along
the northern (uphill) side of each building, though frequently it
did not survive throughout its whole length. Most of these gulleys
were simple channels dug into the clay and were not lined, nor
covered. These are distinguished separately on the plans. Other
channels may be more correctly described as drains. These were
mostly lined with roughly dressed sandstone blocks, though in
one case - the drain immediately north of building 4 - water-worn
cobbles were used. Occasionally the capstones over these drains
survived. These gulleys or drains flowed either west or east to the
intervallum roads or to the via praetoria, thence turning south,
and then turning again to pass through the rampart. At this point
the channel was lined with stones and capped. The drain through
the west rampart, but no other, was floored with flat stones.

A drain passed through the annexe rampart towards its
northern end. It was 220mm-300mm wide and 300mm deep.
Built of roughly dressed sandstone blocks, it was two courses
high and the east end was supported by three courses of stone. The
drain discharged its contents into a channel, Im wide and
550mm deep. It was traced for 2.7m in a south-easterly direction,
remaining the same width, but deepening to 850mm. Over half
the fill of the channel was fine silt, dark in colour, below brown
loam.

In the southern half of the fort drains or gulleys were
provided alongside buildings 9 and 11 and across the centre of
the fort, while a drain led out of the courtyard of building 11.

Many of the gulleys were choked with burnt wattle and daub,
together with broken pottery and pieces